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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

DEBORAH JANE JARRETT, NANCY
ISENHOWER, AND JEFFREY H.
FRANKEL,
Plaintiffs,
V.

INTERMUNE, INC., W. SCOTT
HARKONEN, AND GENENTECH, INC,,
Defendants.

LINDA K. RYBKOSKI,
Maintiff,
V.

INTERMUNE, INC., W. SCOTT
HARKONEN, AND GENENTECH, INC,,
Defendants.

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE
COMPANY,
Maintiff,
V.

GENENTECH, INC., INTERMUNE, INC.,
AND W. SCOTT HARKONEN,
Defendants.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEESHEALTH
ASSOCIATION, INC,,
Paintiff,
V.

INTERMUNE, INC., W. SCOTT
HARKONEN, AND GENENTECH, INC.,
Defendants.

[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING LEAVE TO FILE
STATEMENT OF RECENT DECISION
CASE NOS. 3:08-cv-02376, -02916, -03797, and -04531 MHP

Civil Case No.: No. 3:08-cv-02376 MHP
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LEAVETO FILE STATEMENT OF

RECENT DECISION
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BEFORE THE COURT is Defendants’ Motion for Leave to File Statement of Recent
Decision.
The Court, being otherwise duly advised, it is hereby ORDERED:
1. Defendants' Motion for Leave to File Statement of Recent Decision is GRANTED;
2. The Statement of Recent Decision attached hereto as Exhibit A, respecting Ironworkers
Local Union No. 68 v. AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals LP, 585 F. Supp. 2d 1339 (M.D.

Fla. Nov. 4, 2008), is deemed filed.

DATED: 1/26/200¢

[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING LEAVE TO FILE 2
STATEMENT OF RECENT DECISION
CASE NOS. 3:08-cv-02376, -02916, -03797, and -04531 MHP
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SIMON J. FRANKEL (State Bar No. 171552)
ERIN C. SMITH (State Bar No. 234852)
COVINGTON & BURLING LLP

One Front Street, 35th Floor
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Telephone:  (415) 591-6000

Facsimile: (415) 591-6091

E-Mail: sfrankel@cov.com
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Attorneys for Defendant Inter Mune, Inc.
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Defendants InterMune, Inc., Genentech, Inc., and W. Scott Harkonen (“Defendants™)
hereby serve and file this Statement of Recent Decision bringing to the Court’s attention
Ironworkers Local Union No. 68 v. AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals LP, 585 F. Supp. 2d 1339
(M.D. Fla. Nov. 4, 2008) (attached as Exhibit 1). This decision addresses, on motion to dismiss,

civil RICO claims asserted in the context of alleged off-label promotion of prescription drugs.

Respectfully submitted,

DATED: January 23, 2009 COVINGTON & BURLING LLP

By: /s/ Erin C. Smith

Erin C. Smith
Attorneys for Defendant InterMune, Inc.

DATED: January 23, 2009 WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY LLP

By: /s/ Jessamyn S. Berniker

Jessamyn S. Berniker
Attorneys for Defendant Genentech, Inc.

DATED: January 23, 2009 KASOWITZ, BENSON, TORRES &
FRIEDMAN LLP

By: /s/ Tania M. Mortensen

Tania M. Mortensen
Attorneys for Defendant W. Scott
Harkonen
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(Cite as: 585 F.Supp.2d 1339)

United States District Court, M.D. Florida,
Orlando Division.
IRONWORKERS LOCAL UNION NO. 68 & Par-
ticipating Employers Health & Welfare Funds, et
al., Plaintiffs,

V.

ASTRAZENECA PHARMACEUTICALS LP, et
al., Defendants.

Case No. 6:07-¢v-5000-Orl-22DAB.

Nov. 4, 2008.

Background: Union health and welfare benefits
funds and individual consumer filed class action
against pharmaceutical manufacturer and medical
marketing firm, asserting claims under civil remed-
ies provision of Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (RICO), state consumer protec-
tion laws, and common law fraud, misrepresenta-
tion, civil conspiracy, and unjust enrichment, and
seeking redress for hundreds of millions of dollars
in economic injuries for purchase of antipsychotic
drug, Seroquel, allegedly marketed by fraudulent
scheme misrepresenting safety, efficacy, and su-
periority and illegally promoting drug for unap-
proved or off-label uses. Defendants moved to dis-
miss for failure to state claim.

Holdings: The District Court, Anne C. Conway, J.,
held that:

(1) civil RICO claims based on alleged mail and
wire fraud were precluded for lack of proximate
cause;

(2) consumer protection claims were precluded for
lack of proximate cause;

(3) common law fraud and negligent misrepresenta-
tion claims were precluded for lack of proximate
cause;

(4) civil conspiracy claims were precluded for lack
of underlying tort; and

(5) unjust enrichment claim was precluded on re-
moteness grounds.
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Motions granted.
West Headnotes
[1] Federal Civil Procedure 170A €5>1829

170A Federal Civil Procedure
170AXI Dismissal
170AXI(B) Involuntary Dismissal
170AXI(B)S Proceedings
170Ak1827 Determination
170Ak1829 k. Construction of
Pleadings. Most Cited Cases

Federal Civil Procedure 170A €=>1835

170A Federal Civil Procedure

170AXI Dismissal

170AXI(B) Involuntary Dismissal
170AXI(B)S Proceedings
170Ak1827 Determination
170Ak 1835 k. Matters Deemed Ad-

mitted. Most Cited Cases
In deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a
claim, the district court must accept as true all the
factual allegations in the complaint, drawing all in-
ferences derived from those facts in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule
12(b)(6), 28 U.S.C.A.

[2] Federal Civil Procedure 170A €21771

170A Federal Civil Procedure
170AXI Dismissal
170AXI(B) Involuntary Dismissal

170AXI(B)3 Pleading, Defects In, in Gen-

eral
170Ak1771 k. In General. Most Cited

Cases
On motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim,
the issue is not whether a plaintiff will ultimately
prevail but whether the claimant is entitled to offer
evidence to support the claims. Fed.Rules
Civ.Proc.Rule 12(b)(6), 28 U.S.C.A.
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[3] Federal Civil Procedure 170A €01772

170A Federal Civil Procedure
170AXI Dismissal
170AXI(B) Involuntary Dismissal
170AXI(B)3 Pleading, Defects In, in Gen-
eral
170Ak1772 k. Insufficiency in Gener-
al. Most Cited Cases
To defeat a motion to dismiss for failure to state a
claim, the plaintiff must supply more than just any
conceivable set of facts tending to support the
claim, but enough facts to state a claim to relief that
is plausible on its face. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule
12(b)(6), 28 U.S.C.A.

[4] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €14

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(A) In General

319Hk4 Racketeering or Criminal Activ-

ity
319Hk14 k. Collection of Unlawful

Debts. Most Cited Cases

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €525

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(A) In General
319Hk24 Pattern of Activity

319Hk25 k. In General. Most Cited
Cases
Generally, the federal Racketeer Influenced and
Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) brohibits any
person from participating in a pattern of racketeer-
ing activity or from collecting an unlawful debt. 18
U.S.C.A. § 1962.

[5] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €57
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319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-

tions

319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(B) Civil Remedies and Proceedings

319HKk56 Persons Entitled to Sue or Re-

cover
319Hk57 k. In General. Most Cited

Cases
The essential elements of a civil Racketeer Influ-
enced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) claim
are: (1) a violation of the RICO statute, (2) injury to
business or property, and (3) a causal connection
between the violation and the injury. 18 U.S.C.A. §

1962.

[6] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €62

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(B) Civil Remedies and Proceedings

319Hk56 Persons Entitled to Sue or Re-

cover
319Hk62 k. Causal Relationship; Dir-

ect or Indirect Injury. Most Cited Cases
Civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions Act (RICO) claims must be supported by a
showing that the alleged injury was proximately
caused by the alleged unlawful act; that is, the cent-
ral question a district court must ask is whether the
alleged violation led directly to the plaintiff's injur-
ies. 18 U.S.C.A. § 1962.

[7] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €562

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(B) Civil Remedies and Proceedings
319HkS56 Persons Entitled to Sue or Re-
cover
319Hk62 k. Causal Relationship; Dir-
ect or Indirect Injury. Most Cited Cases
Union health and welfare benefits funds and indi-

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.



585 F.Supp.2d 1339
585 F.Supp.2d 1339
(Cite as: 585 F.Supp.2d 1339)

vidual consumer alleged economic harm from pur-
chase of antipsychotic drug, Seroquel, that was too
remote from alleged mail and wire fraud of pharma-
ceutical manufacturer and medical marketing firm
to be proximately caused by scheme to defraud by
distributing to physicians promotional materials
concealing or misrepresenting drug's safety and ef-
ficacy, on which physicians allegedly detrimentally
relied to prescribe drug, precluding class action
civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions Act (RICO) claims, since alleged fraud did
not lead directly to economic harm to fund mem-
bers and consumer, as complex and individualized
damages inquiry would be required into each doc-
tor-patient relationship to determine whether med-
ical judgment was influenced by fraud and to what
extent. 18 U.S.C.A. § 1962.

[8] Antitrust and Trade Regulation 29T €~>138

29T Antitrust and Trade Regulation
29TIII Statutory Unfair Trade Practices and
Consumer Protection
29TIII(A) In General
29Tk133 Nature and Elements
29Tk138 k. Reliance; Causation; In-
jury, Loss, or Damage. Most Cited Cases
In order to prevail on a consumer protection claim
in New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Tennessee, a
causal nexus between the actionable conduct and
the injury sustained must be shown. N.J.S.A.
56:8-19; 73 P.S. § 201-1 et seq.; West's T.C.A. §
47-18-101 et seq.

[9] Federal Civil Procedure 170A €~°182.5

170A Federal Civil Procedure
170AII Parties
170AI1(D) Class Actions
170AII(D)3 Particular Classes Represen-
ted
170Ak182.5 k. Consumers, Purchasers,
Borrowers, and Debtors. Most Cited Cases

Parties 287 €035.71
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287 Parties
287111 Representative and Class Actions
287111(C) Particular Classes Represented

287k35.71 k. Consumers, Purchasers,

Borrowers, or Debtors. Most Cited Cases

Class actions are prohibited under the Tennessee

Consumer Protection Act. West's T.CA. §

47-18-101 et seq.

[10] Fraud 184 €25

184 Fraud

1841 Deception Constituting Fraud, and Liabil-
ity Therefor

184k25 k. Injury and Causation. Most Cited

Cases
Proximate causation is a required element of both
common law fraud and negligent misrepresentation
claims in New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Tenness-
ee.

[11] Conspiracy 91 €=1.1

91 Conspiracy
911 Civil Liability

911(A) Acts Constituting Conspiracy and Li-

ability Therefor
91k1 Nature and Elements in General
91k1.1 k. In General. Most Cited

Cases
Under Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Tennessee
common law, a civil conspiracy claim must be sup-
ported by an actionable underlying tort.

[12] Conspiracy 91 €9

91 Conspiracy
911 Civil Liability

911(A) Acts Constituting Conspiracy and Li-

ability Therefor
91k9 k. Conspiracy to Defraud. Most

Cited Cases
Civil conspiracy claims against pharmaceutical
manufacturer and medical marketing firm for al-
leged fraudulent scheme to promote antipsychotic
drug, Seroquel, were preciuded, under
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Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Tennessee common
law, in class action by union health and welfare be-
nefits fund and individual consumer; seeking re-
dress for alleged economic harm from purchase of
drug, since there was no underlying tort to support
conspiracy claim as all asserted fraud claims were
dismissed for lack of proximate cause.

[13] Implied and Constructive Contracts 205H
€3

205H Implied and Constructive Contracts
205HI Nature and Grounds of Obligation
205HI(A) In General
205Hk2 Constructive or Quasi Contracts
205HK3 k. Unjust Enrichment. Most

Cited Cases
Unjust enrichment claim against pharmaceutical
manufacturer and medical marketing firm for bil-
lions of dollars of sales from fraudulent scheme to
promote antipsychotic drug, Seroquel, was pre-
cluded, in class action by union health and welfare
benefits fund and individual consumer, seeking re-
dress for alleged economic harm from drug pur-
chases, given remoteness of economic harm from
alleged fraudulent scheme.

*1341 Brian J. McCormick, James J. Pepper,
Stephen A. Sheller, Sheller, PC, William R. Kane,
Cafferty Faucher, LLP, Steven F. Marino, Marino
& Conroy, Philadelphia, PA, Halley Ascher,
Richard Volin, Rosalee B. Connell, Finklestein
Thompson, LLP, Washington, DC, Harry R. Black-
burn, Michael J. Acosta, Harry R. Blackburn & As-
sociates, PC, Medford, NJ, Patrick E. Cafferty, Caf-
ferty Faucher, LLP, Ann Arbor, MI, Benjamin F.
Johns, Denise Davis Schwartzman, Joseph G. Saud-
er, Chimicles & Tikellis, LLP, Haverford, PA, Cas-
andra A. Murphy, Joseph H. Meltzer, Terence S.
Ziegler, Schiffrin Barroway Topaz Kessler, LLP,
Radnor, PA, Robert K. Jenner, Janet, Jenner & Sug-
gs, LLC, Baltimore, MD, Brian P. Kenney, Emily
C. Lambert, Eric L. Young, Meredith T. Deming,
Kenney Egan McCafferty & Young, Plymouth
Meeting, PA, for Plaintiffs.

Brian W. Shaffer, Gordon J. Cooney Jr., John F.
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Schultz, Kristofor T. Hennings, Morgan, Lewis &
Bockius, LLP, Shane T. Prince, Dechert, LLP, Phil-
adelphia, PA, Robert A. White, Morgan, Lewis &
Brockius, LLP, Princeton, NJ, Chris S. Coutroulis,
Carlton Fields, PA, Tampa, FL, Amber Anderson
Villa, Kurt S. Kusiak, Peter E. Ball, William G.
Cosmas Jr., Sally & Fitch, LLP, Boston, MA, for
Defendants.

ORDER

ANNE C. CONWAY, District Judge.

This cause comes before the Court for considera-
tion of Defendant AstraZeneca's Motion to Dismiss
(Doc. 19) and Defendant Parexel's Motion to Dis-
miss (Doc. 18). Plaintiffs filed a_consolidated re-
sponse to both motions (Doc. 28), ! and Defend-
ant AstraZeneca subsequently filed a reply (Doc.
33). Upon careful consideration of the motions and
memoranda, the Court determines that both motions
are due to be GRANTED.

FNI1. Plaintiffs simultaneously filed a
RICO Case Statement under seal. Magis-
trate Judge Baker denied the motion to file
under seal, finding that the Case Statement
was not necessary to the determination of
the Motions to Dismiss. See Doc. 41.

I. BACKGROUND

In this putative class action, various union health
and welfare benefit funds and an individual
consumer seek redress for economic injuries they
say they sustained as a result of a “nationwide, uni-
form marketing campaign involving fraudulent mis-
statements and deceptive conduct in the promotion
of Seroquel,” an atypical antipsychotic drug manu-
factured by Defendant AstraZeneca. Doc. 17 at 4.
According to Plaintiffs, this alleged scheme was de-
vised and carried out by Defendant AstraZeneca in
alliance with Defendant Parexel, a medical market-
ing firm employed by AstraZeneca in 2001 to
provide “publications planning, meetings support,
branding strategy, marketing solutions and ad-

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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vocacy programs relating to Seroquel.” /d. at 46.

FN2. These funds provide health and med-
ical benefits to union members. In relation
to prescription drugs, the funds cover all or
a portion of their members' prescription
drug costs either through direct payment or
subsequent reimbursement.

Plaintiffs allege that the AstraZeneca/Parexel alli-
ance both “misrepresented the comparative safety,
efficacy and superiority of Seroquel over other tra-

ditional/typical or atypical antipsychotics,”/d. at 4,

and “illegally marketed and promoted Seroquel for
unapproved or ‘off-label’ uses,”/d. at 3. This
scheme was allegedly accomplished through the
following mechanisms: concealment of unfavorable
results of clinical trials; aggressive promotion of
the drug as safe and effective for uses not approved
by the FDA; substantial contributions to non-profit
mental health organizations;*1342 sponsorship of
peer-selling events at which physicians were given
financial incentives both to attend the event and to
speak favorably about Seroquel to their peers; em-
ployment of “ghost-writers” to author seemingly-
independent medical publications touting the super-
ior safety and effectiveness of Seroquel; and distri-
bution of marketing and promotional materials dir-
ectly to physicians which concealed or misrepres-
ented facts about the drug's safety and effective-
ness.

As a result of Defendants' conduct, Plaintiffs claim
that they were duped into paying hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars for Seroquel both to treat conditions
for which the drug was not approved and where less
expensive, and equally safe and effective, alternat-
ive treatments existed. Meanwhile, according to
Plaintiffs, Defendant AstraZeneca saw a marked in-
crease in demand for Seroquel; the company raked
in over $4.6 billion in sales of the drag in 2007
alone. [d. at 57. Plaintiffs maintain that had they
known of Defendants' fraudulent scheme, they
would have taken steps to minimize the number of
doses of Seroquel they purchased by, among other
things, excluding Seroquel from approved sched-
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ules or actively dissuading doctors from prescribing
Seroquel to their patients. /d. at 59.

Plaintiffs have filed a consolidated complaint (Doc.
17) asserting claims under the federal Racketeer In-
fluenced and Corrupt Organizations (“RICO”) stat-
ute and state consumer protection laws as well as
common law claims for fraud, misrepresentation,
civil conspiracy and unjust enrichment. Defendants
now seek to dismiss the complaint in its entirety for
failure to state a claim.

II. LEGAL STANDARD

[11[2][3] In deciding a motion to dismiss, the court
must accept as true all the factual allegations in the
complaint, drawing all inferences derived from
those facts in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff. Brown v. Crawford County, 960 F.2d
1002, 1010 (11th Cir.1992). “The issue is not
whether a plaintiff will ultimately prevail but
whether the claimant is entitled to offer evidence to
support the claims.” Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S.
232, 236, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 40 L.Ed.2d 90 (1974)over-
ruled on other grounds by Davis v. Scherer, 468
U.S. 183, 104 S.Ct. 3012, 82 L.Ed.2d 139 (1984);
Little v. N. Miami, 805 F.2d 962, 965 (lith
Cir.1986), However, a plaintiff must supply more
than just any conceivable set of facts tending to
support a claim, but “enough facts to state a claim
to relief that is plausible on its face.” Bell Atl
Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127 S.Ct. 1955,
1974, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007).

1. DISCUSSION

A. Counts I and II: Civil RICO Claims

[4] In Counts I and II of the consolidated com-
plaint, Plaintiffs seek to recover damages by way of
the civil remedies provision of the federal RICO
statute. In general, the federal RICO statute
prohibits any person from participating in a pattern
of racketeering activity or from collecting an un-

© 2009 Thomson Reuters/West. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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lawful debt. See generally18 U.S.C. § 1962. A pat-
tern of racketeering activity is defined to encom-
pass a wide range of acts which are indictable as
*1343 crimes involving fraud, bribery, theft, em-
bezzlement or extortion. Seel8 U.S.C. § 1961(1).
In this case, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants' pat-
tern of racketeering activity involved acts that are
indictable under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343, relat-
ing to mail and wire fraud.

FN3. Plaintiffs allege in Count 1 that De-
fendants violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c),
which prohibits any person “employed by
or associated with any enterprise engaged
in, or the activities of which affect, inter-
state or foreign commerce” from particip-
ating in the conduct of the enterprise's af-
fairs “through a pattern of racketeering
activity or collection of unlawful debt.”
Plaintiffs allege in Count II that Defend-
ants violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), which
prohibits any person from conspiring to vi-
olate any of the other § 1962 provisions.

[5] The civil remedies provision of the federal
RICO statute provides that “[a]ny person injured in
his business or property by reason of a violation of
section 1962 of this chapter may sue therefor in any
appropriate United States district court and shall re-
cover threefold the damages he sustains and the
cost of the suit, including a reasonable attorney's
fee.” 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). Thus, the essential ele-
ments of a civil RICO claim are: (1) a violation of
section 1962; (2) injury to business or property; and
(3) a causal connection between the violation and
the injury. Avirgan v. Hull, 932 F.2d 1572, 1577
(11th Cir.1991). It is the third element on which
Defendants primarily focus their motions to dis-
miss.

Defendants present two main arguments with re-
gard to causation. First, Defendants maintain that
Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate any detriment-
al reliance on the alleged misstatements made by
Defendants in furtherance of their scheme to de-
fraud. Second, Defendants assert that even if
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Plaintiffs have shown detrimental reliance, they
still cannot establish the requisite causal connection
between Defendants' RICO violation and Plaintiffs’
injuries.

The most recent United States Supreme Court au-
thority on pleading and proving detrimental reli-
ance in relation to a civil RICO claim is Bridge v.
Phoenix Bond & Indem. Co., --- U.S. ----, 128 S.Ct.
2131, 170 L.Ed.2d 1012 (2008), where the Court
confronted the issue of whether first-party reliance
was required to sustain a RICO claim predicated on
mail fraud. In holding that it was not, the Court
opined that first-party reliance was neither a re-
quired element of a civil RICO claim nor a pre-
requisite to establishing proximate cause. Id. at
2143-44. Even so, Defendants argue that Bridge did
not entirely do away with RICO's reliance require-
ment and urge that Plaintiffs must at least allege
that someone relied on Defendants' alleged misrep-
resentations. While, the Court does not read Bridge
to absolutely require proof or allegation of detri-
mental reliance in order to sustain a RICO claim
predicated on mail or wire fraud, the Court recog-
nizes, as the Bridge Court did, that “the complete
absence of reliance may prevent the plaintiff from
establishing proximate cause.” Jd. at 2144. Non-
etheless, it is clear from the complaint that
Plaintiffs in this case have alleged third-party reli-
ance by prescribing physicians, See, e.g., Doc.
17 at 21 (“[P]hysicians, relying upon and influ-
enced by the misleading and incorrect information
provided by AstraZeneca about Seroquel, wrote
off-label prescriptions for Seroquel for use by their
patients.”). Whether this alleged third-party reli-
ance is sufficient to establish proximate cause is an-
other issue, one to which the Court now turns.

FN4. In light of the Court's other rulings
herein, the Court need not reach the issue
of whether these allegations are suffi-
ciently pled under Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b).

[6] As was established by the United States Su-
preme Court in Holmes v. Sec. Investor Prot. Corp.,
503 U.S. 258, 112 S.Ct. 1311, 117 L.Ed.2d 532
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(1992), civil RICO claims must be supported by a
showing that the alleged injury was proximately
caused by the alleged unlawful act, /d. at 269, 112
S.Ct. 1311. The Supreme Court used the term prox-
imate cause “to label generically the judicial tools
used to limit a person's responsibility for the con-
sequences of that person's own acts.” /d. *1344 at
268, 112 S.Ct. 1311. In this regard, the Court intim-
ated that the term demanded “some direct relation
between the injury asserted and the injurious con-
duct alleged.” Id. That is, “the central question [a
court] must ask is whether the alleged violation led
directly to the plaintiff's injuries.” Anza v. Ideal
Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 461, 126 S.Ct.
1991, 164 L.Ed.2d 720 (2006). In addition, the
Holmes Court provided the following three policy
reasons for imposing the proximate cause require-
ment:

First, the less direct an injury is, the more diffi-
cult it becomes to ascertain the amount of a
plaintiff's damages attributable to the violation,
as distinct from other, independent, factors.
Second, quite apart from problems of proving
factual causation, recognizing claims of the indir-
ectly injured would force courts to adopt com-
plicated rules apportioning damages among
plaintiffs removed at different levels of injury
from the violative acts, to obviate the risk of mul-
tiple recoveries. And, finally, the need to grapple
with these problems is simply unjustified by the
general interest in deterring injurious conduct,
since directly injured victims can generally be
counted on to vindicate the law as private attor-
neys general, without any of the problems attend-
ant upon suits by plaintiffs injured more re-
motely.

Holmes, 503 U.S. at 269-70, 112 S.Ct. 1311
(internal citations omitted).

7] In view of the “direct relation” standard enunci-
ated by the Holmes Court and the various policies
supporting that standard, the Court concludes that
Plaintiffs have not established that their injuries
were proximately caused by Defendants' alleged
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scheme to defraud. Indeed, allowing Plaintiffs to
move forward on their civil RICO claims would
present precisely the types of problems the Holmes
Court sought to avoid.

In relation to the first Holmes factor, this case
raises serious concerns regarding the ascertainment
of damages caused by Defendants' alleged fraudu-
lent conduct, as opposed to damages caused by oth-
er, independent, factors. The key independent factor
in this case stems from the fact that consumers may
only obtain Seroquel through a prescription from a
physician. Presumably, these physicians use their
independent medical judgment to decide whether
Seroquel! is the best treatment for a given patient.
This independent judgment can be influenced by a
number of things, only one of which may be repres-
entations by a manufacturer as to a particular drug's
relative safety and efficacy, Thus, in the context of
this case, establishing that Plaintiffs' injuries were
caused by Defendants' misconduct would require an
inquiry into the specifics of each doctor-patient re-
lationship implicated by the lawsuit, In other
words, each physician who prescribed Seroquel to
an individual consumer or health and welfare fund
member would have to be questioned as to whether
his or her independent medical judgment was influ-
enced by Defendants' misrepresentations, and to
what extent. Furthermore, as Defendant As-
traZeneca points out in its motion, this individual-
ized inquiry would likely have to be conducted with
regard to each consumer purchase transaction or
third-party reimbursement payment made over the
last approximately ten years, This is precisely the
type of “intricate, uncertain inquir{y]” the Holmes
Court sought to prevent. Anza, 547 U.S. at 460,
126 S.Ct. 1991.

In relation to the second and third Holmes factors,
Defendants have not plausibly identified any vic-
tims of Defendants' alleged fraudulent marketing
scheme other than Plaintiffs. Thus, admittedly, this
case likely would not require the adoption of com-
plicated apportionment rules in order to fairly com-
pensate victims at various *1345 levels of injury,
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nor does it implicate concerns about whether more
direct victims can be relied upon to “vindicate the
law as private attorneys' general,”Holmes, 503 U.S.
at 269-70, 112 S.Ct. 1311. Nonetheless, as one dis-
trict court put it, the proximate cause inquiry is not
“a quest for the best (or, realistically, least bad)
plaintiff”; rather, “[b]y its very nature, the common
law proximate cause requirement adopted by the
Supreme Court in Holmes... leaves open the possib-
ility that some injuries caused by [a] ... RICO viola-
tion may thus be left unremedied for lack of a prop-
er plaintiff.” Serv. Employees Intern. Union Health
and Welfare Fund v. Philip Morris, Inc., 249 F.3d
1068, 1072, 1075-76 (D.C.Cir.2001) (internal quo-
tations omitted). Such is the case here. The highly
complex damages assessment presented by this case
strongly weighs against a finding that Plaintiffs
were directly injured by Defendants' alleged fraud-
ulent conduct. Moreover, as Defendants suggest,
the causal nexus between Plaintiffs' alleged harm
and Defendants' alleged scheme to defraud is even
further attenuated by Plaintiffs' affirmations that
they continued to pay for Seroquel even after De-
fendants' alleged misconduct was uncovered. See,
e.g.,, Doc. 17 at 69 (“Plaintiffs and members of the
Class have and continue to make payments for Ser-
oquel that they would not make had Defendants not
engaged in their pattern of racketeering activ-
ity.”(emphasis added)). In sum, Plaintiffs' alleged
harm is simply too remote from Defendants' alleged
RICO violation to satisfy the proximate cause re-
quirement. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' civil RICO
claims must be dismissed.

FN5. The Court recognizes that Parexel
and AstraZeneca stand on unequal footing
with respect to the extent of their participa-
tion in the alleged RICO conspiracy, as
well as the degree of accountability for
Plaintiffs' alleged harm; however, the
Court's ruling on causation renders this
distinction inconsequential.

B. Counts III-VII: State and Common Law
Claims
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As the class certification issue has not yet been
reached in this case, the Court has considered the
state and common law claims asserted by Plaintiffs
in the context of only the three states in which the
representative plaintiffs claim to reside, i.e., New
Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Tennessee,

1. Counts III, VI and VII: State Consumer Pro-
tection Statutes; Common Law Fraud and Negli-
gent Misrepresentation

[81[9] In Count III, Plaintiffs allege that Defend-
ants' alleged scheme to defraud violates the con-
sumer protection statutes of all but four states. In
order to prevail on a consumer protection claim in
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Tennessee, a causal
nexus between the actionable conduct and the in-
jury sustained must be shown. Weinberg v. Sun Co.,
Inc., 565 Pa. 612, 777 A.2d 442, 446 (2001)
(“Nothing in the legislative history [of the UTP-
CPL] suggests that the legislature ever intended
statutory language directed against consumer fraud
to do away with the traditional common law ele-
ments of reliance and causation.”); Hunt v. U.S. To-
bacco Co., 538 F.3d 217, 224 (3d Cir.2008) (citing
Weinberg); N.J. Citizen Action v. Schering-Plough
Corp., 367 N.J.Super. 8, 842 A2d 174, 178
(N.J.Super.Ct.App.Div.2003) (stating that in order
to maintain a claim under the New Jersey Con-
sumer Fraud Act, “a plaintiff must allege each of
three elements: (1) unlawful conduct by the defend-
ants; (2) an ascertainable loss on the part of the
plaintiff; and (3) a causal relationship between the
defendants' unlawful conduct and the plaintiff's as-
certainable loss.”); White v. Early, 211 S.W.3d 723,
*1346 741 (Tenn.Ct.App.2006) (noting that to re-
cover damages under the Tennessee Consumer Pro-
tection Act, a plaintiff must show that the defend-
ant's wrongful conduct proximately caused her in-
jury). As the Court earlier concluded with re-
spect to the civil RICO claims, Plaintiffs have not
established that their injuries were proximately
caused by Defendants' alleged scheme to defraud.
Therefore, their state consumer protection claims
must also fail.
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FN6. The Court additionally notes, and the
parties do not dispute, that class actions are
prohibited under the Tennessee Consumer
Protection Act. Walker v. Sunrise Pontiac-
GMC Truck, Inc., 249 S.W.3d 301, 310
(Tenn.2008).

[10] The common law fraud and negligent misrep-
resentation claims alleged by Plaintiffs in Counts
VI and VII likewise fail for lack of causation. See
McCabe v. Ernst & Young, LLP, 494 F.3d 418, 438
(3d Cir.2007) (noting that “proximate causation is a
required element of both common law fraud and
misrepresentation under New Jersey law.”);
Konover Const. Corp. v. East Coast Const. Servs.
Corp., 420 F.Supp.2d 366, 370 (D.N.J.2006) (“Both
negligent and fraudulent misrepresentation require
a plaintiff to demonstrate that it sustained an injury
that was caused by the defendant's misrepresenta-
tion as an element of the claims.”); French v. First
Union Sec., Inc., 209 F.Supp.2d 818, 825
(M.D.Tenn.2002) (“In order to recover for dam-
ages, a party must not only prove they have sus-
tained damages, but also that those damages were
proximately caused by the acts or omissions of the
Defendants. This is true regardless of the nature of
the action.™); Gunsalus v. Celotex Corp., 674
F.Supp. 1149, 1159 (E.D.Pa.1987) (“[I]n order to
prevail on [intentional or negligent misrepresenta-
tion] claims, plaintiff must also prove justifiable or
reasonable reliance and a causal connection
between the representations and the alleged
harm.”). Therefore, Counts III, VI and VII of the
consolidated complaint must be dismissed.

2. Count V: Civil Conspiracy

[11]{12] Under Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Ten-
nessee common law, a civil conspiracy claim must
be supported by an actionable underlying tort. Levy
v. Franks, 159 S.W.3d 66, 82 (Tenn.Ct.App.2004)
(“{Tlhere is no liability under a theory of civil con-
spiracy unless there is underlying wrongful con-
duct.”(citing Tenn. Pub. Co. v. Fitzhugh, 52 S.W.2d
157, 158 (Tenn.1932))); Pelagatti v. Cohen, 370
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Pa.Super. 422, 536 A.2d 1337, 1342
(Pa.Super.Ct.1987) (“[A]bsent a civil cause of ac-
tion for a particular act, there can be no cause of ac-
tion for civil conspiracy to commit that act.”); Far-
ris v. County of Camden, 61 F.Supp.2d 307, 326
(D.N.J.1999) (noting that under New Jersey law, a
civil conspiracy “is not an independent cause of ac-
tion, but rather a liability expanding mechanism
which exists only if [the plaintiff] can prove the un-
derlying independent wrong.”(internal quotations
omitted)). Because all tort claims asserted by
Plaintiffs have been dismissed, there is no action-
able underlying tort left to support their civil con-
spiracy claim, Count V must, accordingly, be dis-
missed.

3. Count IV: Unjust Enrichment

[13] Finally, the Court finds the Third Circuit Court
of Appeals' decision in Steamfitters Local Union
No. 420 Welfare Fund v. Philip Morris, Inc., 171
F.3d 912 (3d Cir.1999),FN7 persuasive on the issue
of *1347 whether Plaintiffs' unjust enrichment
claim should be allowed to proceed where all other
tort claims have failed. In Sreamfitters, the court
observed that “[i]n the tort setting, an unjust enrich-
ment claim is essentially another way of stating a
traditional tort claim.” Id at 936. As such, the
court could “find no justification for permitting
plaintiffs to proceed on their unjust enrichment
claim once we have determined that the District
Court properly dismissed the traditional tort claims
because of the remoteness of plaintiffs' injuries
from defendants’ wrongdoing,”/d. at 937. Other
federal courts have found wisdom in this reasoning.
See Perry v. Am. Tobacco Co., Inc., 324 F.3d 845,
851 (6th Cir.2003) (dismissing group health insur-
ance subscribers' unjust enrichment claim against
tobacco manufacturers on remoteness grounds);
Blystra v. Fiber Tech Group, Inc., 407 F.Supp.2d
636, 644 n. 11 (D.N.J.2005) (treating plaintiffs' un-
just enrichment claims as “subsumed by their other
tort claims, and not as an independent cause of ac-
tion.”); In re Guidant Corp. Implantable Defibril-
lators Prods. Liab. Litig., 484 F.Supp.2d 973, 985
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(D.Minn.2007) (dismissing third party payor unjust
enrichment claim under Pennsylvania law because
the alleged harm was “too remote.”). Accordingly,
Count IV of the complaint must be dismissed on re-
moteness grounds.

FN7. Steamfitters was one of several cases
filed in various state and federal courts by
union health and welfare funds seeking to
hold tobacco companies responsible for the
additional health care costs incurred by
smokers. The union funds asserted claims
similar to those asserted by Plaintiffs in
this case, e.g., federal RICO claims and
state law claims for misrepresentation,
negligence and unjust enrichment. The
Third Circuit ultimately affirmed the dis-
trict court's dismissal of the claims for fail-
ure to establish proximate cause.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion, it is
ORDERED as follows:

1. Defendant Parexel's Motion to Dismiss (Doc.
18) is GRANTED.

2. Defendant AstraZeneca's Motion to Dismiss
(Doc. 19) is GRANTED.

3. All of Plaintiffs' claims are hereby DIS-
MISSED as to all Defendants.

4. All other pending motions are DENIED as
moot.

5. The Clerk is directed to CLOSE the case.

M.D.Fla.,2008.
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